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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 The United States District Court, District of New Union, had subject matter jurisdiction 

over the claims specified below pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §§  1311, 1344, and 1365. The District Court 

also possessed federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

The United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has jurisdiction over the appeal 

filed by the New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) and the New Union Department of 

Environmental Protection (NUDEP) pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291, which provides the court of 

appeals with jurisdiction over all final decisions of United States district courts. The lower court’s 

decision was final, disposed of all of the parties claims, and the Appellant’s filed a timely notice of 

appeal following the issuance of the District Court’s Order on June 1, 2012. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Whether the district court correctly interpreted the Clean Water Act (CWA) by finding that 

the New Union Wildlife Federation lacked the requisite standing to bring a claim against Mr. 

Bowman. 

2. Whether the district court correctly interpreted § 505(a) of the Clean Water Act by finding 

that there was not a continuous or ongoing violation. 

3. Whether the district court correctly interpreted § 505(b) of the Clean Water Act by finding 

that NUWF’s citizen suit was barred by NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Mr. Bowman. 

4. Whether the district court correctly interpreted the Clean Water Act by finding that Mr. 

Bowman had not violated the Clean Water Act by moving dredged and fill material from 

one part of a wetland adjacent to a navigable waterway to another part of the same wetland. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Nature and Disposition of the Case: Mr. Bowman owns one thousand acres of wooded property 

in Mudflats, New Union, which abuts the Muddy River, and on June 15, 2011, began to conduct 

clearing operations on this land. Order p. 3–4. On July 1, 2011, NUWF notified Mr. Bowman that 

his actions had violated the Clean Water Act and they intended to bring suit through the citizen suit 

provision found in § 505 of the Clean Water Act. Order p. 4. At this time NUWF also provided 

corresponding notice to NUDEP, who has been delegated authority from the EPA to implement 

and enforce the Clean Water Act in New Union. Id. 

 Following NUWF’s notice to Bowman and NUDEP, NUDEP notified Mr. Bowman that he 

had violated federal and state law. Id. Despite his disagreement, Mr. Bowman assented to a 

settlement agreement with NUDEP on August 1, 2011, for the alleged violations that: (1) required 

he clear no more wetlands on his property, and (2) conveyed a conservation easement to NUDEP 

that included the still-wooded property along the Muddy River and a buffer zone between this area 

and Mr. Bowman’s recently cleared property, which would be maintained as a year-round wetland 

with a buffer zone. Id. This agreement, which did not include a monetary penalty even though the 

issuance of one was permissible, was integrated into an administrative order issued by NUDEP to 

Mr. Bowman. Id. Finally, NUDEP brought suit in federal court on August 10, 2011, pursuant to the 

citizen suit provision of the Clean Water Act, and later filed a motion on September 5, 2011, to enter 

a decree that contained the same terms as the previously issued administrative order. Order p. 5. Mr. 

Bowman consented to both the administrative order from NUDEP and the motion filed in federal 

court. Id. 

 Subsequent to the filing of NUDEP’s citizen suit in federal court, NUWF filed its own 

complaint on August 30, 2011, pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the Clean Water Act, which 

sought civil penalties, a removal of all fill materials, and restoration of the wetlands. Id. NUWF, 
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subsequently learned of NUDEP’s motion to enter a decree and filed its motion to intervene, unite 

all Clean Water Act claims against Mr. Bowman, and oppose the NUDEP’s proposed decree, which 

Mr. Bowman had already agreed to. Id. The motion to intervene was subsequently granted. Id. 

 Following discovery, both Mr. Bowman and NUWF filed motions for summary judgment. 

Mr. Bowman filed a motion for summary judgment on four grounds contending: 1) NUWF lacked 

standing because the organization and its members did not suffer an  injury in fact traceable to Mr. 

Bowman’s alleged violations, 2) the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because any 

violations are in the past and not continuing or ongoing, 3) the district court lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction because NUDEP’s actions constituted a diligent state enforcement action and 

completely resolved the violations, and 4) the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because 

the “addition” element of a Clean Water Act claim was not satisfied. Id. Correspondingly, NUWF 

filed its motion for summary judgment on one ground; alleging that Mr. Bowman “violated the 

CWA because he added dredge and fill material to navigable waters from a point source without a § 

404 permit.” Id. NUDEP subsequently joined NUWF in its motion for summary judgment 

regarding standing and the Clean Water Act violations. However, NUDEP joined Mr. Bowman on 

his motion for summary judgment maintaining that the violations were not continuing or ongoing as 

required by the CWA’s citizen suit provision and that diligent prosecution by NUDEP had resolved 

the violations. 

  District Court Decision and Rationale: The District Court granted Mr. Bowman’s motion for 

summary judgment on all issues. The District Court found that NUWF lacked standing, it lacked 

subject matter jurisdiction because all violations were in the past and prior state action had resolved 

the matter, and that Mr. Bowman had not violated the Clean Water Act. Order p. 11. 

 In determining that NUWF lacked standing to bring a citizen suit, the district court cited the 

Lujan decision to outline that NUWF and its members were required to prove: (1) an injury in fact, 
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(2) that the injury was traceable to Mr. Bowman’s actions, and (3) that the court can adequately 

address their complaints. Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992). The court found that the 

injuries alleged by NUWF, which consisted of negatively impacting recreational boaters and a 

member who illegally frogged the area, did not satisfy the standard articulated in Lujan. Order p. 6. 

Furthermore, the court found that the conservation easement granted by Mr. Bowman may actually 

benefit, instead of harm, the environment. 

 Next, the District Court addressed its lack of subject matter jurisdiction presented by Mr. 

Bowman’s assertion that the violations were wholly in the past and that state action taken by 

NUDEP to diligently prosecute the alleged violations had already been undertaken. First, the court 

agreed with Mr. Bowman’s contention that the violations were not continuous because: (1) there is 

no indication or suspicion Mr. Bowman will repeat the conduct alleged to be a CWA violation and 

(2) finding a violation continued until it was completely undone would destroy the statute of 

limitations, effectively making the continuing language in the Clean Water Act meaningless. Order p. 

7. Next, the district court found that the expeditious manner in which NUDEP negotiated a 

settlement, filed a federal lawsuit, and stopped Mr. Bowman’s alleged violations adequately met the 

requirements of the Clean Water Act, thus preventing NUWF from having the standing required to 

bring a citizen suit. 

 Finally, the district court analyzed the alleged Clean Water Act violation under a four-part 

test as outlined by the statutory definition in 33 U.S.C. §§  1311(a)1, 1362(12).2 The court found that 

three of the four requirements were met. The court ruled that the fill material in question was a 

pollutant, the bulldozers satisfied the point source requirement, and the wetlands on Mr. Bowman’s 

                                                 
1 33 U.S.C. §§  1311(a) (2011) prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant by any person” except as authorized 

by a permit §§ 402 and 404 of the Clean Water Act. 
2 33 U.S.C. §§  1362(12) (2011) defines the “discharge of a pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source.” 
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property, which are adjacent to the Muddy River, satisfy the navigable waterway requirement. 

However, the court found that the requirement that the pollutant be an “addition” was not satisfied 

because the pollutants introduced were solely from another part of the same wetlands, and therefore 

not an addition. Order p. 9. The court felt the EPA’s interpretation of addition,3 coupled with its 

unitary navigable water theory,4 made it clear that pollutants moved from one portion of wetlands to 

another did not satisfy the addition requirement. 

 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Characteristics of the Land: The thousand acres owned by Mr. Bowman – the subject of 

controversy here – are adjacent to the Muddy River in the vicinity of Mudflats, New Union. Order 

p. 1.  The river forms the border between the state of New Union and Progress and is approximately 

five-hundred feet wide and six-feet deep where it borders Mr. Bowman’s property. Id. This portion 

of the river is frequently used for recreational boating. Id. 

 Mr. Bowman’s land and the Muddy River are inextricably tied to one another. Mr. Bowman’s 

property contains six-hundred and fifty feet of shoreline and the entirety of the property lies within 

the Muddy’s flood plain. Id. The property is hydrologically connected to the Muddy River and Mr. 

Bowman has stipulated that his property constitutes a wetland. Order p. 1–2. 

 Mr. Bowman’s Actions on His Land: In June 2011, approximately seventy-five days prior to the 

lawsuit filed by NUWF, Mr. Bowman began to clear his land to make it more suitable for farming. 

Order p. 4, 5. To accomplish the objectives of the clearing operation, Mr. Bowman utilized 

                                                 
3 In the EPA Water Transfer Rule the EPA interpreted the term addition to mean something from outside of 

any navigable water source. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Water Transfer Rule, 

73 Fed. Reg. 33,697 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122).  
4 The EPA’s unitary navigable waters theory declares that all navigable waters are one for the purposes of § 

301(a) of the Clean Water Act. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Water Transfer 

Rule, 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122). 
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bulldozers to dig trenches, take down trees, level the field, and create a ditch to drain the burnt 

remains of the cleared vegetation into the river. Order p. 4. Once complete, Mr. Bowman retained a 

150 foot wide swath of land that extends the length of his property’s shoreline in an undisturbed 

condition. Id. In September 2011, the land was suitable for Mr. Bowman to plant winter wheat, 

which he subsequently did. Id. 

 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The district court’s finding that NUWF lacked standing to bring a suit under the Clean 

Water Act is correct because NUWF has not asserted an injury in fact or shown that the injury was 

fairly traceable to Mr. Bowman’s activities. The members have not asserted an injury in fact because 

their statements are both too conjectural and conclusory, or because the alleged injury is to an illegal 

activity. Furthermore, the injuries are not fairly traceable to Mr. Bowman’s activities because NUWF 

members do not allege the presence of a pollutant in the Muddy River that was in the effluent from 

Mr. Bowman’s site. 

The district court’s finding that NUWF’s claim did not satisfy the continuing or ongoing 

requirements of the Clean Water Act was correct for four reasons. First, NUWF cannot prove that 

any violations have occurred on or after the date they filed their citizen suit. Second, NUWF cannot 

make a good-faith allegation that they believe Mr. Bowman will commit a violation of the Clean 

Water Act in the future. Next, Gwaltney authorizes a court to examine other extraneous factors in 

determining if a violation is ongoing; all of which lean toward the finding that if a violation occurred 

it has been effectively remedied. Finally, the court’s finding that it lacks subject matter jurisdiction is 

proper because NUWF’s supporting case law is distinguishable when the EPA’s unitary navigable 

water theory is considered.  
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The district court’s finding that NUWF’s citizen suit was barred by NUDEP’s enforcement 

action is correct because both the court action and the consent decree were diligently enforced and 

NUWF has not met its heavy burden of showing otherwise. The court action is diligent because it is 

intended in good faith address all the alleged Clean Water Act violations on Mr. Bowman’s site. The 

consent decree satisfies the diligent standard because it addresses all the alleged violations and is the 

type of agency bargain the Supreme Court endorsed in Gwaltney. 

If a pollutant was not added from any place other than the water body in question – that is 

to saw, from the “outside world” – such pollutant cannot be deemded to have been “added” to the 

water body within the meaning of the CWA § 404 permitting requirements. The inquiry into 

whether a pollutant has been added from the “outside world” turns on whether the source and the 

water body it is introduced to are one and the same body of water. Thereby, EPA’s regulation in 

2006, “The Water Transfers Rule”, becomes decisive in that it embodies the “unitary navigable 

waters theory” which sees all “waters of the United States” as a whole. Transfers between navigable 

water bodies of the United States do not consitute an “addition” that would be in violation of the 

CWA under § 404. Given how Mr. Bowman’s fill material containing the pollutant at issue 

originated from the wetland and was merely moved to other parts of the wetland, such transfers 

cannot constitute “additions” in violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 

 

ARGUMENT 

I. The District Court Correctly Determined That NUWF Does Not Have Standing Because It  
Never Established An Injury-In-Fact That Is Fairly Traceable to Mr. Bowman’s Activity. 

 
 

A. Standard of Review 

This issue of NUWF’s appeal involves a review of the district court's order granting Mr. 

Bowman’s summary judgment that plaintiffs lack the requisite standing to bring a citizen suit, which 
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is reviewed de novo. A motion for summary judgment must be granted “if the pleadings, 

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, 

show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 

judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Questions of standing are reviewed de novo. 

London v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 340 F.3d 1246, 1251 (11th Cir. 2003).  

 

B.     Requirements of Standing 

Plaintiffs must fulfill three conditions to establish standing: the plaintiff must have suffered 

an actual or imminent injury that is concrete and particularized; the injury must be fairly traceable to 

the activity of the defendant; and, a favorable decision must be likely to redress the plaintiff’s harm. 

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992). An organization, such as NUWF, has standing to 

sue on behalf of its members when: its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own 

right; the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the organization’s purpose, and neither the 

claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of the individual members in the 

lawsuit. Hunt v. Washington State Apple Advertising Comm’n., 432 U.S. 333 (1997). The parties do not 

contest the redressability element of the individuals’ standing or the ability of NUWF to sue on 

behalf of its members if they meet the requirements expressed in Lujan. Accordingly, the only issues 

for this court are whether the individual members in NUWF’s complaint have alleged an injury-in-

fact and whether that injury-in-fact is fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities. 

 

C.  NUWF Members Have Not Asserted an Injury-In-Fact 

NUWF members have alleged harm to their economic, recreational, and aesthetic interests, 

but that harm is nullified by the common law tenet that actions based upon a plaintiff’s wrongful or 

illegal acts cannot give rise to an injury. To establish standing in an environmental suit, plaintiffs 
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must establish that they used the affected area and are persons “for whom the aesthetic and 

recreational values of the area will be lessened” by the challenged activity. Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. 

Laidlaw Envnt. Serv., 528 U.S. 167, 183 (2000) (quoting Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735 

(1972)). 

Plaintiffs must establish more than just “general averments” or “conclusory allegations” to 

demonstrate an injury in fact. Id. (quoting Lujan v. Nat’l. Wildlife Fed., 497 U.S. 871, 888 (1990)). 

Plaintiff’s statements that they had an intention to visit endangered species in foreign countries 

“some day” were not sufficient to show an injury in fact; concrete plans, such as booked plane 

tickets, were required. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 564. Similarly, Lujan held that assertions by an organization 

that its members used “unspecified portions of an immense tract of land” that may be affected by 

mining activity did not establish an injury in fact. 497 U.S. at 889.  

Plaintiffs do not need to demonstrate damage to the environment, but instead must 

demonstrate harm to the plaintiff. See Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 167. Courts regularly look at behavioral 

change of the plaintiffs to determine whether harm to their recreational or aesthetic interests has 

occurred. See Id. (plaintiff group members alleged they would no longer picnic, walk or swam in and 

near the river at issue as a result of a reasonable fear that pollution from defendants posed a risk); 

American Canoe Assoc., Inc. v. Murphy Farms, Inc., 326 F.3d 505 (4th Cir. 2003) (plaintiff group members 

alleged they decreased their use of the creek out of health concerns); Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston 

Copper Recycling Corp., 629 F.3d 387 (4th Cir 2011) (plaintiff group member decreased number of trips 

he took to the site both individually and as a member of a boating company); Public Interest Research 

Group of NJ, Inc. v. Rice, 774 F.Supp. 317 (D. N.J. 1991) (plaintiff group member alleged he longer 

recreates near the polluted area).  
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In Lujan, while the court agreed an injury to recreational or aesthetic interests would occur 

from not being able to observe endangered species, plaintiffs were unable to show that this injury 

would happen to them beyond conjectural “someday” statements. 

All injuries averred by NUWF members – setting aside Norton’s testimony of frogging in 

the area – are insufficient to prove an injury in fact for standing because they speak in only 

conjectural and conclusory terms and do not allege any change in their behavior. Comments that 

they are “aware of the differences and feel a loss from the destruction to the wetlands” do not 

establish how their recreational or aesthetic interests have been injured. Order p. 6. NUWF 

members have not shown how this injury impacts their aesthetic or recreational interest in the river 

beyond a conjectural sense. Id. 

The concerns NUWF members have regarding the valuable functions wetlands play for river 

ecosystems do not implicate their aesthetic or recreational interests, but instead are comments that 

allege the health of the Muddy River is damaged by Bowman’s activity. Under Laidlaw, injury to the 

Muddy River is not the standard to measure injury in fact; instead this court must examine the harm 

that NUWF members suffer. 

Unlike Laidlaw, Gaston Copper, American Canoe, and Rice, plaintiffs have not stated that their 

use of the Muddy River changed at all as a result of the alleged violations. Although they attested to 

a fear that the Muddy is more polluted as a result of the pollution, as in Laidlaw, this fear has not 

spurred any of the behavioral changes like those that occurred in Laidlaw. Order p. 6. Milford’s 

comments that the Muddy looked more polluted to her than it did prior to Bowman’s activities, 

while seeming to trigger an aesthetic interest, did not change her use of the Muddy. Id. Additionally, 

all the members of NUWF deposed agree that the conservation easement imposed by NUDEP 

leaves the aesthetics of navigational use unaffected. Id. 
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D.     Norton’s Frogging Testimony Does Not Assert an Injury-In-Fact 

Norton’s testimony about frogging does not assert an injury in fact because courts refuse to 

aid those whose cause of action is based on their own illegal conduct. An alleged harm to an illegal 

activity can never constitute an injury in fact. 

Although Norton’s testimony about decreased number of frogs available for recreational and 

subsistence frogging is the type of harm that fulfills the injury in fact requirement, the fact that this 

harm is dependent upon his trespass on Bowman’s land renders it unavailable in court. It is a well-

established tenet of English and American law that ex turpi causa non oritur action (from a dishonorable 

cause an action does not arise). Bank of U.S. v. Owens, 27 U.S. 527 (1829) (there can be no legal 

remedy for that which is itself illegal.). 

Courts will not recognize actions designed to obtain things that never legally belonged to the 

plaintiff. For example, a ship captain that unlawfully claimed a boat he took from a Brazilian port as 

a prize of war was unable to bring suit. The Florida, 110 U.S. 37 (1879) (No court will lend its aid to a 

party who founds his claim for redress upon an illegal act). Courts have also found that debts from 

illegal gambling may not form the basis of a suit. See Babcock v. Thompson, 20 Mass. 446 (1826); Abbe 

v. Marr, 14 Cal. 210 (1859). 

Norton’s use of Bowman’s property for frogging was illegal; therefor, under ex turpi causa non 

oritur action, courts will refuse to hear an action alleging injuries to this interest. Cf. Official. Comm. Of 

Unsecured Creditors of Color Tile, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 322 F.3d 147, 164 (2d Cir. 2003). 

Norton admits that the Bowman property was properly posted under the state law against 

trespassing and stated that “he might have been trespassing” when he had gone frogging there. 

Order p. 6. This illegal act forms the basis for Norton’s alleged injury in fact because had he not 

trespassed on Bowman’s property, he would have been unable to frog in that area and would not 

have experienced the decline in frog quantity he alleges in his deposition.  
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Because Norton’s illegal frogging interest is barred from court under ex turpi causa non oritur 

action and the remaining injuries NUWF members allege do not reveal any harm to their recreational 

or aesthetic interests, NUWF lacks standing to bring suit because it has not alleged an injury-in-fact.  

 

E. The Injuries Suffered By NUWF Members Are Not Fairly Traceable to Bowman’s Activities 

NUWF has not shown that their injuries are fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities because 

they have not proven that Bowman is discharging an effluent that causes or contribute to their 

alleged injuries. Traceability requires plaintiffs show the alleged violation causes or contributes to the 

kinds of injuries they allege. S.C. Wildlife Fed’n. v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 484 F.Supp. 2d 661 (D.S.C. 

2007). 

Traceability exists when the plaintiff alleges harm and shows that the defendant’s effluent 

contains pollutants that contribute to that harm. Public Interest Research Group of N.J., Inc. v. Powell 

Duffryn Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64 (3rd Cir. 1990). The Third Circuit found traceability when affiants 

complain that water “had an oily or greasy sheen” and the defendant discharged oil and grease into 

that water in excess of their permit limits. Id. Similarly, traceability was shown when a group alleged 

arsenic contamination in a water body and was able to prove the defendant mining operation had 

discharged arsenic into that body in excess of its NPDES permit. Idaho Conservation League v. Atlanta 

Gold Corp., 844 F.Supp.2d 1116 (D. Idaho 2012). 

NUWF has not shown what effluent from Bowman’s activity contributes to the harm and 

injuries alleged. In each case where traceability was found, there had a connection between the 

effluent found to be causing damage to the water body and the effluent coming from the 

defendant’s activities. NUWF members merely state that they are aware that wetlands act to absorb 

sediment and pollutants, and that they worry that pollution will increase due to Bowman’s clearing 
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activities, but they do not allege that sediment or any particular pollutant is causing the perceived 

pollution that constitutes the basis for the injury alleged. 

Because NUWF has not provided a connection between the cause of the pollution in the 

Muddy River and any effluent resulting from Bowman’s clearing activities, they have not shown that 

their injury is fairly traceable to Bowman’s activity, and therefore do not have standing. 

 

II. The District Court Correctly Interpreted § 505(a) of the  Clean Water Act in Concluding It 
Did Not Have Subject Matter Jurisdiction Because Mr. Bowman’s Past Actions Did Not 
Satisfy the Continuing or Ongoing Requirement of the Citizen Suit Provision 
 

 

A. Standard of Review 

In determining the correct standard of review it is necessary to understand that NUWF’s 

appeal involves an appeal from summary judgment and the district court’s statutory construction of 

§ 505(a). First, in an appeal from summary judgment an appellate court should apply the de novo 

standard of review. See Baranowski v. Hart , 486 F.3d 112, 199 (5th Cir. 2007). Likewise, an appellate 

court will utilize a de novo standard of review when reviewing a district court’s statutory 

construction and interpretation. United States v. Phillips, 303 F.3d 548, 550 (5th Cir. 2002). 

Accordingly, the district court’s grant of summary judgment and conclusions of law regarding this 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction are also reviewed de novo. Of significance, however, are the three 

levels of review within the de novo standard, which dictate the level of deference a lower court’s 

decision should receive. Kevin Casey, Jade Camara, & Nancy Wright, Standards of Appellate Review in 

the Federal Circuit: Substance and Semantics, 11 Fed. Cir. B.J. 279, 282 (2001). In this case, heightened 

deference should be given to the trial court’s conclusions because the issue regarding the continuous 

or ongoing requirement of the Clean Water Act, to this situation and set of circumstances, is not a 

new or novel legal principle. Id. 
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B. Mr. Bowman’s Actions Do Not Satisfy the Continuing or Ongoing Requirement  
 
Section 505 of the Clean Water Act, which governs citizen suits, states that “any citizen may 

commence a civil action on his own behalf . . . against any person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of 

an effluent standard or limitation under this Act or an order issued by the Administrator or a State 

with respect to such a standard or limitation.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2012) (emphasis added). The 

“alleged to be in violation of” phrase was construed ambiguously after the passage of the Clean 

Water Act, which eventually led to a three-circuit split over its interpretation.5 The Supreme Court 

granted certiorari to an appeal from the Fourth Circuit to resolve the split and found that the “most 

natural reading of ‘to be in violation’ is a requirement that citizen-plaintiffs allege a state of either 

continuous or intermittent violation -- that is, a reasonable likelihood that a past polluter will 

continue to pollute in the future.” Gwaltney of Smithfield v. Chesapeake Bay Found., 484 U.S. 49, 57 

(1987). The Court then expounded on this by expressing that the harm meant to be addressed is in 

the “present or future, not in the past,” but did leave room for jurisdiction if the allegation of a 

continuous or intermittent violation was made in good faith. Id. at  59, 64. The case was then 

remanded to determine if the allegation was offered in good faith. Id. 

On remand, the Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit found that to ensure wholly past 

violations were effectively barred a plaintiff would have to meet one of two requirements to grant a 

federal court subject matter jurisdiction over a citizen suit. First, a court would have jurisdiction over 

                                                 
5 See Hamker v. Diamond Shamrock Chem. Co., 756 F. 2d 392 (5th Cir. 1985)(finding the “alleged to be in 

violation of” language mandated that private citizens could only bring suit if a defendant that was in violation 

of the act at the time the complaint was filed); Chesapeake Bay Found. v. Gwaltney of Smithfield, 791 F. 2d 304, 309 

(4th Cir. 1986)(allowing citizen suits for past violations by interpreting  § 505(a) to allow action for “unlawful 

conduct that occurred only prior to the filing of a lawsuit as well as unlawful conduct that continues into the 

present”); Pawtuxet Cove Marina, Inc. v. Ciba-Geigy Corp., 807 F. 2d 1089, 1094 (1st Cir. 1986) (finding that 

jurisdiction exists pursuant to § 505(a) when “the citizen-plaintiff fairly alleges a continuing likelihood that the 

defendant, if not enjoined, will again proceed to violate the Act). 
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a citizen suit if the plaintiff could prove that the alleged violations continued on or after the date the 

complaint was filed. Chesapeake Bay Found. v. Gwaltney of Smithfield, 844 F.2d 170, 172 (4th Cir. 1988). 

In the alternative, a court would have jurisdiction over a citizen suit if the plaintiff could prove that 

evidence would allow a reasonable trier of fact to believe there was a “continuing likelihood of a 

recurrence in intermittent or sporadic violations.” Id. Additionally, the court felt that a district court 

could examine other extraneous matters, outside of these two requirements, when determining if a 

violation was continuous or ongoing. Finally, the court felt a district court should, when determining 

whether it possesses subject matter jurisdiction, also consider any remedial actions taken to cure the 

violations, and whether such remedial measures would be effective, as well as any other evidence 

that illustrates if any risk remains for defendant’s continued violation of the Clean Water Act. Id. 

The results of Gwaltney have been construed both broadly and narrowly by courts in the 

years since the decision. The court in North Carolina Wildlife Fed’n v. Woodbury interpreted it  broadly6 

finding that “treating the failure to take remedial measures as a continuing violation is eminently 

reasonable . . . because it is not the physical act of discharging dredge wastes itself that leads to the 

injury giving rise to citizen standing, but the consequences of the discharge in terms of lasting 

environmental degradation.” No. 87-584-CIV-5, 1989 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13915, at *6 (E.D.N.C. 

1989). A strict interpretation7 came in Connecticut Coastal Fishermen's Ass’n v. Remington Arms Co., where 

the plaintiffs alleged that defendant’s shooting range was discharging fill material pollutants into a 

                                                 
6 Other cases that contain a similar broad reading are Sasser v. United States EPA, 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 

1993) (finding Sasser’s violation of the Clean Water  Act was a continuing one as long as the pollutant 

remains in the wetlands without a permit); and City of Mt. Park v. Lakeside at Ansley, LLC, 560 F. Supp. 2d 

1288, 1296 (N.D.Ga. 2008) (finding a continuing violation because the pollutants remained in the water and 

were not likely to dissipate or dissolve over time). 
7 Other cases that contain a similar strict reading are Coon v. Willet Dairy, LP, Nos. 5:02-CV-1195 and 5:04-

CV-917, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 51718, at *6 (N.D.N.Y. 2007) (dismissing CWA claims because the 

defendant had entered into a consent order with the state environmental agency prior to the lawsuit, and the 

plaintiffs presented no evidence that the violation was ongoing or likely to recur); and Wilson v. Amoco Corp., 

33 F. Supp. 2d 969 (D. Wyo. 1998) (concluding “that migration of residual contamination from previous 

releases does not constitute an ongoing discharge”). 
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navigable body of water without a permit. 989 F.2d 1305 (2d Cir. 1993). The court was swayed by 

the defendant’s “final irrevocable decision” never to reopen the shooting range, thereby eliminating 

any potential for future discharges of pollutants and the fact that the plaintiff provided no evidence 

to counter defendant’s assertion that they would never discharge fill material again. Id. at 1311–13.  

Jurisdiction Based Upon Alleged Violations On or After Date of Plaintiff’s Complaint. Mr. Bowman’s 

cooperation and agreement with NUDEP unequivocally show that there were no violations on or 

after the date that NUWF filed its complaint. Order p. 4–5. The clearing operations conducted by 

Mr. Bowman were completed over one month prior to the date that NUWF filed its complaint. In 

the intervening time, Mr. Bowman consented to an agreement that ensured he would not clear any 

more wetlands and provided a conservation easement, with a corresponding buffer zone, to ensure 

the protection of the remaining wetlands. Order p. 3–4, 6. NUWF has not countered that any more 

clearing operations have been conducted or any alleged violations have occurred since the filing of 

their complaint.  

Jurisdiction Based Upon Likelihood of a Recurrence of Violations: The district court correctly 

determined there is no likelihood of a recurrence of violations in the case at hand. There is no 

evidence to indicate to a reasonable trier of fact that the alleged violations at issue here will ever 

occur again. NUWF has not made an effort to prove any conditions or set of circumstances that 

would indicate there exists a likelihood of a recurrence of the alleged violations. Mr. Bowman’s 

actions since he was contacted by NUWF and NUDEP illustrate that the conduct which led to the 

alleged violation of the Clean Water Act will never be repeated. Order p. 4. Mr. Bowman 

immediately agreed to the administrative order by NUDEP that mandated that he never clear 

another portion of his land. Id. His willingness to agree to this condition illustrates that it would be 

unreasonable to presume he would ever repeat the alleged CWA violating conduct again. This is also 

not the case of a “suddenly repentant defendant” who is only correcting their conduct because of 
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the threat of litigation. Gwaltney 484 U.S. at 67 n.6 (U.S. 1987). Mr. Bowman agreed to the conditions 

outlined by NUDEP immediately after being notified of a potential issue to prevent any future 

environmental controversies regarding his land. 

Other Factors a District Court May Consider: The conduct of Mr. Bowman and NUDEP, 

described in the preceding paragraph, was also properly considered as a basis for the district court’s 

finding regarding subject matter jurisdiction. Gwaltney describes how a court may take notice of 

remedial actions if they cure the violations, if those actions will likely be effective, or if any other 

evidence exists that demonstrates that a risk remains for defendant’s continued violation of the 

Clean Water Act. Gwaltney, 844 F.2d at 172. 

In the present case, the remedial actions, which consisted of constructing additional wetlands 

and providing a conservation easement, cured the violation and will be effective.  Order p. 6. As a 

NUDEP biologist testified, the wetland habitat mandated by the settlement is likely to improve the 

area environmentally. Id. Furthermore, Mr. Bowman’s absolute and unwavering cooperation with 

NUDEP show that he presents no risk for continued conduct that may be in violation of the Clean 

Water Act. Accordingly, these factors strongly support the district court’s decision that there was not 

a continuing or ongoing violation and support the grant of summary judgment because there was no 

genuine dispute of any material facts.  

 Finally, it is important to note that applying the broad interpretation of “continuing or 

ongoing” as described in Woodbury and Sasser would be inappropriate and without merit. First, the 

argument by NUWF fails a simple logical analysis. If the presence of fill material was an ongoing 

violation, why would NUDEP, who is responsible for enforcing the Clean Water Act, not demand a 

cleanup? The simplest answer is that because the fill material in question, moved from one part of 

the wetlands to another, does not constitute a continuous or ongoing violation. In support of this 

analysis is the district court’s analysis that “where an agency has specifically addressed the concerns 
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of an analogous citizen’s suit, deference to the agency’s plan of attack should be particularly 

favored.” North & S. Rivers Watershed Ass’n v. Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 557 (1st Cir. 1991).Additionally, 

the legislative history of citizen suits explicitly discusses that “the great volume of enforcement 

actions [should] be brought by the State and that citizen suits are proper only [when] the Federal, 

State, and local agencies fail to exercise their enforcement responsibility. S. Rep. No. 92-414, at 64 

(1971). Thus, NUDEP’s enforcement actions must have comprised a calamitous failure for NUWF’s 

citizen suit, and accompanying demand for a broad interpretation of the continuous or ongoing 

language, to be appropriate 

  

III. The District Court Correctly Found That NUWF is Barred from Filing a Citizen Suit Under 
§ 505 of the Clean Water Act Because NUDEP’s Enforcement Through Both Court Action 
and Administrative Consent Decree Was Diligent. 

 

A. Standard of Review 

As discussed supra, an appellate court will utilize a de novo standard of review when reviewing 

a district court’s statutory construction and interpretation. United States v. Phillips, 303 F.3d 548, 550 

(5th Cir. 2002). Accordingly, the district court’s grant of summary judgment and conclusions of law 

regarding NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of the alleged CWA violations are also reviewed de novo. 

 

B.     NUDEP’s Court Action is a Diligent Prosecution that Bars NUWF’s Suit 

Citizen suits in the Clean Water Act are “meant to supplement rather than supplant 

governmental action.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60. Although citizens have a right of action under § 505 

of the Clean Water Act, § 505(b)(1)(B) provides that a citizen suit is barred if the “State has 

commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action in a court of the United States or a 

State to require compliance with the standard, limitation, or order” that the citizen plaintiff is 

challenging in court. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). In order for the State’s diligent prosecution to bar a 
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citizen suit, the violations the citizen plaintiffs allege must be the same that the State is diligently 

prosecuting. Frilling v. Village of Anna, 924 F.Supp. 821 (S.D. Ohio 1996).  

 When challenging the diligence of the State’s prosecution of Clean Water Act violations, 

citizen plaintiffs bear a heavy burden. Sierra Club v. IGC Eastern, 833 F.Supp.2d 571 (N.D. W. Va. 

2011). See also, Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192 (10th Cir. 2007), and Ohio Valley Env’l Coalition, Inc. V. 

Hobet Min., LLC, 717 F.Supp.2d 541 (S.D. W. Va. 2010). Courts must presume the State’s 

prosecution is diligent unless there is persuasive evidence that the State has engaged in conduct 

during its prosecution of the defendant that could be considered dilatory, collusive, or in bad faith. 

Connecticut Fund for Environment v. Contract Plating, 631 F.Supp. 1291 (D. Conn. 1986). 

State enforcement prosecutions will ordinarily be considered diligent if the judicial action is 

capable of requiring compliance with the Act and is in good faith calculated to do so. The Piney Run 

Preservation Ass’n. v. County Com’rs of Carroll County, Maryland, 523 F.3d 453 (4th Cir. 2008).  

 The State’s prosecution of a Clean Water Act violation does not have to be far-reaching or 

zealous; it must only be diligent. Karr, 475 F.3d 1192. Similarly, the mere fact that the State has 

chosen a different, possibly less stringent, prosecutorial strategy than the citizen plaintiffs does not 

mean that a citizen suit should be allowed. Id. In determining whether the state was diligently 

prosecuting an action, the court may rely primarily on objective evidence from the court files with 

respect to the status of the state’s suit at the time the citizen suit started and the prospects that “the 

state suit would proceed expeditiously to a final resolution.” Contract Plating, 631 F.Supp. at 1293. See 

also, Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Maple Coal Co., 808 F.Supp.2d 868, 886 (S.D. W. Va. 2011) 

(discussing whether or not an agency enforcement action is diligent must be ascertained at the time 

the citizen enforcement action is filed.). If at the time the citizen suit is filed, there is an indication 

that the State is pursuing a definitive outcome, the State’s prosecution is likely diligent. Maple Coal, 
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808 F.Supp.2d 868 (finding citizen suit not barred when state enforcement action seemed designed 

to prolong the date for effluent limitations to go into effect.). 

In the Karr case a citizen’s group challenged the diligence of an EPA court action that 

resulted in a consent decree, but the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals found that settling the judicial 

action through a consent decree was a diligent prosecution when it had as its purpose the resolution 

of all claims that the defendant violated the Clean Water Act. Karr, 475, F.3d 1192 (When the EPA 

chooses to enforce the CWA through a consent decree, failure to defer to its judgment can 

undermine agency strategy). The Supreme Court supports deference to EPA’s bargaining powers in 

Gwaltney: “If citizens could file suit…in order to seek the civil penalties that the Administrator chose 

to forgo [in a consent decree], then the Administrator’s discretion to enforce the Act in the public 

interest would be curtailed considerably.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60-61. 

 Sierra Club v. ICG Eastern, LLC, also featured a citizen suit barred by a state judicial action 

that resulted in a consent decree, even though the citizen plaintiffs challenged the extremely small 

fine for past penalties and alleged that the State had acted in bad faith. 833 F.Supp.2d 571, 578 

(2007). Although small civil penalties may provide evidence of lack of diligence, see Friends of the 

Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services (TOC), Inc., 890 F.Supp. 470 (D.S.C. 1995); and Frilling v. 

Village of Anna, 924 F.Supp. 821 (S.D. Ohio 1996), that fact alone will not overcome the 

presumption of the State’s diligent prosecution. ICG Eastern, 833 F.Supp.2d at 579 (quoting Envtl. 

Conserv. Org. v. City of Dallas, 529 F.3d 519 (5th Cir. 2008)) (“That [citizen-plaintiff] might have sought 

stiffer penalties against [polluter] does not change the result; [citizen-plaintiff] is not permitted to 

upset the primary enforcement role of the EPA by seeking civil penalties that the administrator 

chose to forgo.”). The court found the State had not acted in bad faith even though the size of the 

fine was small and the final compliance dates were extended because the Draft Consent Decree 
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required the “defendant’s immediate compliance with interim limitations.” ICG Eastern 833 

F.Supp.2d at 579.  

 If citizen plaintiffs do not have the opportunity to intervene in the State’s action, courts are 

more likely to find that the State’s court action is not diligent. Laidlaw, 890 F.Supp. 470. Although 

diligent State prosecution can bar a citizen suit, Congress still intended citizen-plaintiffs to 

participate by giving them the ability to intervene as “a matter of right” in the State action that 

precluded their citizen suit. 33 U.S.C. 1365(b)(1)(B). State prosecution was not diligent when the 

polluter requested the court action, drafted the complaint and consent order, and filed the complaint 

and consent order, which was signed by the judge the following day, in an attempt to bar a pending 

suit by citizen plaintiffs. Id.  

 Both the NUWF and NUDEP complaints deal with alleged violations of the Clean Water 

Act from Bowman’s clearing activities on his property adjacent to the Muddy River, so if NUDEP is 

diligently prosecuting its action regarding these violations, NUWF’s citizen suit will be barred. 

NUDEP’s action in court is a diligent prosecution because it is in good faith intended to achieve 

compliance with the act and NUWF has not alleged any irregularities in the procedure that show a 

lack of diligence.  Although NUDEP’s action is not as stringent as NUWF may like, because it does 

not seek civil penalties, the jurisprudence of Karr and Gwaltney recognize that NUDEP has the 

primary enforcement role.  NUDEP’s consent decree with Bowman, which creates a 150 foot wide 

conservation easement on all of the river-front portions of Bowman’s property and mandates the 

construction, at Bowman’s expense, of a wetland in a 75 foot buffer zone beyond the conservation 

easement, is intended to address all alleged violations from Bowman’s activity. As the courts 

recognized in Gwaltney and ICG Eastern, states are entitled to mandate corrective action in lieu of 

penalties, as NUDEP has done in this case, and NUDEP’s authority to enforce the Clean Water Act 

in the public interest would be considerably curtailed by allowing a duplicative suit by NUWF. 
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 NUWF has not met its heavy burden in showing that NUDEP’s prosecution of Bowman is 

not diligent. NUDEP acted promptly to address the violations NUWF alleged by mandating the 

conveyance of a substantial conservation easement and the construction of a wetland, as opposed to 

Maple Coal where the State dragged its feet in enforcing effluent limitations. NUWF has not alleged 

any dilatory or collusive behavior in NUDEP’s prosecution of Bowman that Contract Plating points as 

an indicator of non-diligent prosecution. The collusion present in Laidlaw, where the polluter drafted 

and filed the State’s complaint and consent decree, is absent in NUDEP’s prosecution of Bowman.  

Looking at the state of affairs at the time the citizen suit was filed, as was done in Contract 

Plating and Maple Coal, there is no indication that NUDEP has not proceeded diligently in its court 

enforcement action. NUDEP has already completed a consent decree before coming to court, unlike 

the State in Maple Coal, showing that the State is pursuing a definitive outcome. Furthermore, 

NUDEP did not wait a long time before bringing this court action, but instead chose to exercise its 

primary enforcement authority under the Clean Water Act to promptly address all the alleged 

violations at Bowman’s site.  

NUDEP acted diligently in giving NUWF the opportunity to intervene in their court action; 

NUWF successfully intervened in NUDEP’s action over a month after NUDEP’s action against 

Bowman was filed. Laidlaw, which held that a consent decree filed in court between the State and 

polluter was not a diligent prosecution, is easily distinguishable because only a day passed between 

the court filing and consent decree entry in Laidlaw, as compared to the near-month long delay 

NUDEP took in this case to file a motion for a consent decree, which has yet to be entered. 

 NUWF’s citizen suit should be barred because NUDEP’s court action is intended to reach 

full compliance for all Clean Water Act violations at Bowman’s site and NUWF has not met its 

heavy burden of showing that NUDEP acted in bad faith or was not diligent in its prosecution of 

Bowman. 
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C.  The Consent Decree Between NUDEP and Bowman Bars NUWF’s Citizen Suit 

The consent decree between NUDEP and Bowman is a diligent enforcement action because 

it is intended to address all the violations at Bowman’s site and, although it does not assess civil 

penalties, its enforcement strategy and bargaining power are entitled to deference. Citizen suits are 

barred by diligent prosecution when: the state has commenced an enforcement procedure against 

the polluter, the state is diligently prosecuting the enforcement proceedings, and the State’s statutory 

enforcement scheme is comparable to § 309(g) of the Clean Water Act. McAbee v. City of Fort Payne, 

318 F.3d 1248 (11th Cir. 2003). NUDEP’s statutory enforcement scheme is comparable, so the only 

issues are whether NUDEP commenced an enforcement procedure and whether that procedure was 

diligent. 

An administrative action commences for purpose of diligent prosecution analysis at the time 

“when notice and public participation protections become available to the public and interested 

parties.” Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewage Dist., 383 F.3d 743, 756 (7th Cir. 2004). 

Most courts have concluded that issuance of an administrative consent order would satisfy the 

commencement requirement. McAbee v. City of Fort Payne, 318 F.3d 1248 (11th Cir. 2003). In Arkansas 

Wildlife Federation v. ICI Americas, Inc., 29 F.3d 376 (8th Cir. 1994), the court found that filing a 

consent order between the state and polluter commenced state enforcement, even though no the 

state did not file a Notice of Violation.  

State enforcement actions do not have to be as far-reaching as citizen plaintiffs may like; 

they only have to be capable of requiring compliance with the Clean Water Act and be in good faith 

calculated to do so. Piney Run 523 F.3d at 459; see also Atl. States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak 

Co., 933 F.2d 124 (2nd Cir. 1991) (citizen suit cannot proceed solely for purpose of challenging the 

terms of a settlement reach by state officials so long as settlement reasonably assures…the violations 
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alleged in citizen suit have ceased and will not recur.). In Hobet, the state consent decree was not 

diligent because it did not require the polluter to comply with selenium limits and the stipulated 

penalty was not reasonably calculated to require compliance. Hobet Mining, 717 F.Supp.2d 541. In 

Scituate, the state consent decree was diligent even though no civil penalties were levied because the 

terms of the decree required the planning and constuction of a new treatment facility that would 

result in compliance with the Clean Water Act. Scituate, 949 F.2d 552.  

§ 309(g)(6)(A) of the Clean Water Act provides that when a State has issued a final order and 

the violator has paid a penalty assessed under this subsection, that violator shall not be subject to a 

suit for civil penalties under §505 of the Clean Water Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(6)(A)(III). However, 

courts have recognized that only barring citizen suits when an administrative order seeks civil 

penalties gives states much less discretion in seeking corrective action or using the bargaining power 

inherent in the primary enforcement role they hold. See Piney Run 523 F.3d 453; and Scituate, 949 F.2d 

552. The Supreme Court recognizes that EPA’s bargains are an essential part of the discretion it 

enjoys as the primary enforcer of the Clean Water Act: “Suppose…that the Administrator agreed 

not to assess…civil penalties on the condition that the violator take some extreme corrective 

action…[if] citizens could file suit [for civil penalties], then the administrators discretion to enforce 

the act in the public interest would be curtailed considerably.” Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60-61. 

NUDEP’s filing of the consent agreement between itself and Bowman is the type of action 

that most courts agree commences agency enforcement. NUDEP issued a Notice of Violation in 

this case, more procedure than was given in the Arkansas Wildlife Federation case, which was found to 

fulfill the commencement requirement. The record is absent of any allegations that NUWF was not 

allowed to intervene in the process. Although cases like Friends of Milwaukee stress that state 

enforcement activities begin at the point that public involvement and due process protection begins, 
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NUDEP’s filing of a consent order begins that process of public involvement and therefore 

commences the state enforcement action. 

Although NUDEP did not seek any civil penalties in the consent agreement, the extensive 

corrective actions it mandated are an example of the agency bargaining powers that the Supreme 

Court deferred to in Gwaltney. The extensive conservation easement Bowman conferred to NUDEP 

and the wetland he must construct on his property are intended to address all alleged violations 

stemming from NUWF’s complaint. The state agency in Scituate was found to be diligent when it did 

not impose penalties and mandated the construction of a new sewer system, similar to how NUDEP 

did not impose penalties and, instead, mandated the construction of a new wetland and obtained a 

large conservation easement. 

Allowing NUWF’s suit to continue merely because they disagree with the settlement that 

NUDEP reached with Bowman would place a needless burden on federal courts and encourage 

duplicative suits in the future. NUDEP has the primary enforcement authority under the Clean 

Water Act and its actions are presumed to be diligent. Although NUWF argues that there are still 

violations on the Bowman site, Scituate recognizes that violations may continue despite every 

reasonable action by the State and alleged polluter;  

NUWF has not met its heavy burden in showing the consent order between NUDEP and 

Bowman was not diligent. The agreement addressed all alleged Clean Water Act violations on the 

site and is use of NUDEP’s bargaining power that the Supreme Court encourages.   
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IV. The District Court Correctly Found That Mr. Bowman Did Not “Add” Any Pollutant to the 
Wetland Because the Fill Material Was Not “From the Outside World” But Merely 
Constituted A Permissible Water Transfer Within the EPA’s Unitary Navigable Theory and 
Thus Did Not Violate §§ 301(a) or 404 of The Clean Water Act. 

 
 

A. Standard of Review 

As discussed supra, an appellate court will utilize a de novo standard of review when 

reviewing a district court’s statutory construction and interpretation. United States v. Phillips, 303 F.3d 

548, 550 (5th Cir. 2002). Accordingly, the district court’s grant of summary judgment and conclusions 

of law regarding the alleged violations of §§ 301(a) or 404 of the Clean Water Act are also reviewed 

de novo. 

 

B.     Mr. Bowman’s Actions Did Not Constitute a Clean Water Act Violation Because the “Addition” 
Element of the Statute Is Not Satisfied 

 
A pollutant cannot be deemed to have been “discharged” to “waters of the US” within the 

meaning of the CWA if such pollutant did not “add” to the water body from the outside world. §§ 

33 U.S.C. §§1311(a), 1362(12)(2011); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 174-75 (D.C. Cir. 

1982). Because “the inquiry into whether something has been introduced from the ‘outside world’ 

centers around whether the source and receiving waters are actually the same body of water […]” 

California Sportfishing Prot. Alliance v. Lake Wildwood Ass'n, 2006 WL 2734370 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 25, 

2006), the EPA’s recent “Water Transfer Rule” regulation enforces the Gorsuch decision further 

through its unitary navigable waters theory, essentially treating all “waters of the US” as one. 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Water Transfer Rule, 73 Fed. Reg. 

33,697 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122). Impermissible point source discharge without 

a permit may only be established when a pollutant originates from a non-US body of water or non-

water source generally, as the transfers of water between the waters of the US are “water transfers 
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[…] not subject to regulation [because they] do not constitute an ‘addition’ to navigable waters [….]” 

Id.  

Any additions of substances to a water body from inside that water body do not count as an 

“addition” requiring a permit under the CWA. An apt hypothetical is that “if one takes a ladle of 

soup from a pot, lifts it above the pot, and pours it back into the pot, one has no ‘added’ soup or 

anything else to the pot…” See Catskill Mts. Chapter of Trout Unlimited, Inc. v. City of New York, 273 

F.3d 481, 492 (2d Cir. 2001). Thus, the “outside world” has been defined as “any place outside the 

particular water body to which pollutants are introduced.” Id. at 491. Courts that have come to a 

similar conclusion have determined that “there are no compelling indications either in the statutory 

scheme, the legislative history, or anywhere else, that such a construction is wrong.” Nat’l Wildlife 

Fed’n v. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d 580, 584 (6th Cir. 1988). 

Further, it does not matter if a defendant’s actions changed the nature of the material used as 

fill from living to dead. Courts have determined that “[u]nder the CWA, live fish would be just as 

much a pollutant as a mixture of live and dead fish. Id., at 585 (determining that “the CWA does not 

distinguish between living and dead biological materials”). Pollution constituting the “entrained fish” 

are an “inherent result” of dam operations and therefore any resulting change to the water quality is 

“not […] from the physical introduction of a pollutant from the outside world.” Id., at 585-86. 

Similarly, any change in the quality of a wetland cannot be said to be due to the adding of a pollutant 

in the form of biological material (i.e. the vegetation uprooted by land clearing) previously within in 

the wetland itself. Along the same line of reasoning, the moving around of soil and the encompassed 

vegetation is an inherent result of land clearing just as the “entrained fish” are for dam operations. 

Given that “water does not lose its status as navigable water simply because it is removed from the 

Lake,” it follows logically that the features of the wetland should not lose their status as well in the 
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landclearing process and therefore do not become “added” pollutants that would require a permit. 

Id. at 589. 

Although the “outside world” rule has so far only been applied in the context of § 402 of the 

CWA, there is no reason not to apply ‘outside world’ rule to 404 permitting analysis as well, 

especially considering how the rule has already been discussed in connection with nonpoint sources, 

indicating a potentially expansive scope. Comm. To Save Mokelumne River v. E. Bay Mun. Util. Dist., 13 

F.3d 305, 308 (9th Cir. 1993) (discussing Consumers Power Co. and Gorsuch in the context of nonpoint 

source pollution). While the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals did not ultimately apply the rule to 

nonpoint sources, the application would be appropriate to § 404 permitting since both the NPDES 

and § 404 permitting processes deal with point sources and thus require similar statutory 

interpretation. Also, applying the “outside world” rule in the context of § 404 would arguably 

reinforce the original intent behind the section, given how “Congress had in mind either a temporal 

or geographic separation between excavation and disposal [as] suggested by . . . 33 U.S.C. § 1344 

(1994) . . .” United States v. Bay-Houston Towing Co., Inc., 33 F. Supp. 2d 596, 604 (E.D. Mich. 1999). 

Requiring a pollutant to be from the outside world would ensure such geographic separation. 

Furthermore, the highly similar statutory structure of §§ 402 and 404 provide a compelling 

reason to apply the rationale of § 402 in the context of § 404. For statutory construction purposes, 

“[t]he normal rule […] assumes that ‘identical words used in different parts of the same act are 

intended to have the same meaning.’” Sorenson v. Sec'y of Treasury of U.S., 475 U.S. 851, 860 (1986). 

Thus, the similarity of the language in both sections is a strong indication that “Congress may have 

likely intended that the term “addition” as it applies to dredged materials has an application similar 

to the term “addition” as it applies to water transfers [….]” David Eng, Watering Down the Clean 

Water Act: A Critique of the Npdes Water Transfers Rule, 36 Wash. U. J.L. & Pol'y 179, 201 (2011). 
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The concern exists that requiring materials come from “an external source in order to 

constitute a discharge necessitating a § 404 permit […] would effectively remove the dredge-and-fill 

provision from the statute.” Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 924 (5th Cir. 

1983). In 2008, however, the EPA rejected any cause for concern in its Water Transfer Rule by 

simply stating that “today's rule has no effect on the 404 permit program [….]” 33 U.S.C. 1344. 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Water Transfers Rule, 73 FR 33697-01.  

The question “whether the source and receiving waters are actually the same body of water” is 

crucial to the “inquiry into whether something has been introduced from the ‘outside world.’” 

California Sportfishing Prot. Alliance v. Lake Wildwood Ass’n, CV S 06 1026 WBS EFB, 2006 WL 

2734370 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 25, 2006). Thus, the “unitary body of water” principle embodied in the 

Water Transfer Rule – while essentially embracing the “outside world” rule – can in effect be seen as 

the codification or, alternatively, as the enforcement of the idea behind the “outside world” rule. 

The final rule specifically addressed previous court rulings that had endorsed the “outside world” 

rule, by analyzing how those “Courts of Appeals construed the term ‘addition’ so as to include 

transfers of water from one body to another distinct body.” Water Transfers Rule, 73 FR 33697-01. 

The EPA thereby specifically referred to Catskill I: “We agree with this view provided that ‘outside 

world’ is construed as any place outside the particular water body to which pollutants are 

introduced.” 273 F.3d at 491. Ultimately, EPA’s regulation sought to clarify and define “water 

transfers as an activity that conveys or connects waters of the United States without subjecting the 

transferred water to intervening industrial, municipal, or commercial use” which is not subject to 

permitting requirements. Friends of Everglades v. S. Florida Water Mgmt. Dist., 570 F.3d 1210, 1218-19 

(11th Cir. 2009).  

Previously, other Circuit Courts had not applied the “outside world” rule endorsed in 

Gorsuch and Consumers Power because “the EPA’s position [was] based on a series of informal policy 
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statements made […] over the years whereby Courts have indicated in the past, however, that had 

EPA’s position ‘been adopted in a rulemaking or other formal proceeding, deference of the sort 

applied by the Gorsuch and Consumers Power courts might be appropriate.’” Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. 

Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 948 (7th Cir. 2004). Therefore, when a particularly relevant Eleventh Circuit 

decision on the matter – consolidating petitions for judicial review of the rule – revisited the issue 

after EPA had formally issued the regulation, it determined that while “in sum, all of the existing 

precedent and the statements in [its] own vacated decision are against the unitary waters theory” that 

there had been an “important change” through the regulation, which “[posed] the Chevron issue 

missing from the Miccosukee case.” Friends of Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1222. The court ultimately 

decided that “[e]veryone agrees that the EPA’s regulation is entitled to Chevron deference if it is a 

reasonable construction of an ambiguous statute. Id. at 1219 (finding also that it was a reasonable 

construction).  

Now that EPA’s position on the matter embodied in its Water Transfers Rule has been 

adopted in a rulemaking, deference must be given to the rationale that a pollutant must have been 

introduced from the outside world in order to constitute a violation. While the argument has been 

advanced that “the EPA has advanced inconsistent positions with respect to whether ‘waters’ under 

the CWA implies a single ‘unitary’ water or many separate waters” and would be therefore “not 

entitled to the Chevron's deferential standard of review,” ONRC Action, 1:97-CV-03090-CL, 2012 WL 

3526828, it in fact “[does not] matter whether the new regulation is a dramatic shift in EPA policy.” 

Nat’l. Cable & Telecomm. Assoc. v. Brand X Internet Servs., 545 U.S. 967, 981 (2005); see also Brand X, 545 

U.S. 967, 980 (“Chevron requires a federal court to accept the agency's construction of the statute” 

despite the fact that it may differ from what the court believes to be the best statutory 

interpretation”). Even if the results of construction seemingly do not conform to goals of the CWA, 

a court is asked to apply the statute and not the congressional purpose behind it. In re Hedrick, 524 
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F.3d 1175, 1188 (11th Cir. 2008). In terms of resolving such legal questions, courts have often 

“[stripped] a legal question of the contentious policy interests attached to it” in order to rather 

“think about it in the abstract [….]” Friends of Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1228. 

Application of the Water Transfer Rule not only to NPDES permitting processes but also to 

§ 404 permitting follows naturally from the principles of statutory construction. These principles 

“instruct that the Clean Water Act should be interpreted by analyzing the statute as a whole. United 

States v. Boisdore's Heirs, 49 U.S. 113, 122 (1850). Passed as a whole, a statute therefore dictates that 

each part must be construed in reference with other parts “so as to produce a harmonious whole.” 

Water Transfers Rule, 73 FR 33697-01 (citing Norman J. Singer, Statutes and Statutory Construction 

vol. 2A § 46:05, 154 (6th ed., West Group 2000)). What further calls for the application of the rule 

to § 404 permitting is the fact that both § 404 and the NPDES permits apply to point sources of 

pollutants, which are the “regulatory focus of the CWA.” ONRC Action, 1:97-CV-03090-CL, 2012 

WL 3526828 (emphasis added). Logically, both permitting processes should thus follow the same 

statutory construction principles.  

While several courts have held that land clearing activities violate the CWA without a § 404 

permit, these decisions were bereft of EPA’s “unitary navigable waters” theory and its incorporation 

of the “outside world” interpretation of “addition.” In the instant case, however, applying EPA’s 

new logical approach to determining when a pollutant has been “added” to a navigable water of the 

United States precludes any requirement that Bowman’s activities supposedly needed a § 404 permit.  

Bowman’s activities did not “add” any pollutant in a manner that would violate section § 404 

of the CWA because the material he cleared within the wetlands did not originate from the “outside 

world.” By merely moving material from one part of field-in-preparation to another part of his field, 

the element of “addition” is not satisfied since these activities are simply transferring vegetation 

previously contained within the wetlands to another location within the same part of the wetlands. 
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Order p. 4. Thus, this biological material is not being introduced from the “outside world,” i.e. the 

introduction is not from “any place outside the particular water body to which pollutants are 

introduced.” Catskill, 273 F.3d at 492. It is evident that the wetlands in question are a water body of 

the United States, constitute the entirety of Mr. Bowman’s property, and the land clearing activity 

was restricted solely to this wetlands. Order p. 3–4. These facts further preclude any argument that 

the biological material may have been introduced from any other source than the wetlands itself. 

Because the wetland at issue must be treated as part of a “unitary water” of the United States within 

which water transfers do not qualify as “addition” under the CWA the position that there has been an 

addition is further weakened. 73 FR 33697-01. Therefore, the transfer of parts of the wetlands’ 

ecological make up from one point to another solely within this unitary water of the United States 

cannot be deemed an addition to the wetlands.  

While the EPA’s Water Transfers Rule now effectively puts forth the “outside world” rule as 

guidance to courts, it should additionally be noted that those former court decisions – before EPA 

proposed the final regulation – that had rejected the “outside world” rule had merely addressed the 

concept in terms of how it might apply to dredge spoil. Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 

F.2d 897, 924 (5th Cir. 1983) (discussing the potential application of the rule in the context of 

dredge spoil). Yet the activity at issue in this case was deemed to be land clearing, which is not 

dredging, thus the pollutant at issue is merely the fill material including the biological material in the 

form of the vegetation on the land and not dredge spoil. Order p. 5, 8. All that NUWF seeks from 

Bowman is to restore the wetlands and remove the fill material from the field. Order p. 5. The EPA’s 

Water Transfer Rule, taken together with the focus of the previous negative treatment of the 

“outside world” rule on dredge spoil, allow for the conclusion that Bowman’s activities transferring 

fill material exclusively within the wetlands did no constitute as an “addition” triggering permitting 

any requirements under the CWA.  
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It also does not make a difference that, in the process of clearing his land, Bowman 

transformed once live vegetation into dead biological material, since the CWA does not concern 

itself with such a distinction. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d at 585. Indeed, the “imaginative piece of 

verbal metaphysics” the government is putting forth arguing that the removal of once live vegetation 

and reintroduction of subsequently dead material constitutes “addition” is not warranted under the 

CWA. Order p. 10. Just as the fish in the dam-cases – where the “outside world” rule has 

predominantly been discussed – “both dead and alive, always remain within the waters of the United 

States, and hence cannot be added” the vegetation Bowman moved from one point in his field to 

another could not have been “added” to the wetland. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d at 586. The 

introduction of a substance from within a water body to that same water body cannot qualify as an 

“addition” because the substance remains inherent to the water body – just like the “entrained fish” 

are an “inherent result” of dam, Id. at 585-86, – and thus is not from the “outside world.”  

The distinction between pollutants moved and transformed within the water body by the 

essential operation of a dam is equally as applicable to the vegetation moved and transformed in the 

operation of bulldozers in land clearing activity. Both processes involve the use of a continuous 

body of water. Either process inevitably interferes with the vegetation contained within such water 

body. Also, just as much as dams are considered point source, Bowman’s bulldozers here were 

conceded to be point sources, making the application of the Water Transfers Rule even more 

appropriate. Order p. 8. Application of the rationale of EPA’s Water Transfers Rule in reading § 404 

to comport with the “outside world” rule is additionally beneficial in that doing so furthers the 

original intent behind the section by establishing a permitting scheme to provide that dredged 

material from navigational channels were carried off and deposited at a distance from such waters. 

Adding in a geographic separation between the introduced pollutant and the water body itself is in 

harmony with such rationale.  
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In sum, given that the fill material at issue as “pollutant” originated from the wetlands itself 

– which is part of the unitary navigable waters of the United States – and not from the “outside 

world” surrounding the wetlands, Bowman’s activities creating such fill material cannot qualify as 

“addition” of a pollutant and therefore Bowman did not violate §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, the District Court properly determined that NUWF did not 

possess the requisite standing to bring a citizen suit pursuant to the Clean Water Act and that it 

lacked subject matter jurisdiction due to the fact the alleged violations were wholly in the past and 

had been diligent prosecuted by NUDEP. Finally, the district court properly determined that Mr. 

Bowman’s actions merely constituted a permissible water transfer within the EPA’s unitary navigable 

waters theory and did not violate §§ 301(a) or 404 of the Clean Water Act. Accordingly, the district 

court properly granted summary judgment on all grounds and Mr. Bowman respectfully requests 

that this Court affirm the June 1, 2011 Order of the District Court granting its Motions for 

Summary Judgment. 


